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new piece of apparently supportive evidence has come in, I have first of all acted as
devil’s advocate. I have contacted scientists from appropriate fields, to sample their
views. And unless I have been certain that something is sound, I have always erred on
the side of caution. My American and British publishers, too, have played an
important role here, with the very careful scientific and legal readings which the book
was given before publication. Not surprisingly, they wanted to be certain that I was
able to justify everything I’d written.

Perhaps the best evidence that I have not bent the facts to the theory, or rushed to
premature judgement, would be the thrice-given testimony given by Gaston Ninane in
1992, that the Koprowski vaccines had been made in “chimpanzee kidney cells”.
After I told Dr Ninane that the scientific literature at the time had mentioned only
“monkey kidney cells” he suddenly retracted, saying that this was what he had
intended to say – and I accepted that he had made a mistake. It would have been far
easier, had I been intent on forcing the issue, simply to quote the words that he had
said, and to ignore the subsequent denial. In the end, it took nine years of further
research before I was finally convinced that what he had originally told me was the
truth.

But what of “untruths” told by the other side? There are quite a few examples of these
to be found in The River, and others that can be discerned in the rivulets that run
through the endnotes, or between the lines. One of the more obvious examples
involved Koprowski’s repeated claims in the literature that he was making his OPVs
in chick embryo, and his thrice denying the use of primate kidney tissue culture.412

Others examples are still coming to light. One relates to the “vaccinations in response
to epidemics” which were staged in Province Oriental in January and February 1958.
I have recently reviewed three different accounts of these outbreaks (one by
Koprowski,413 one by Courtois,414 and the third by Wilfrid Bervoets, a Congo-based
government inspector of hygiene),415 and realised that they offer comprehesively
conflicting versions of (a) the number of persons who tested positive for Type 1 polio
antibodies before it was decided to initiate the “anti-epidemic” vaccinations, and (b)
the number of polio cases that occurred among both vaccinees and non-vaccinees
after the vaccinations with CHAT.

The evidence strongly suggests that these vaccinations were not primarily staged in
response to epidemic outbreaks of polio, as claimed, but rather because a new batch or
batches of CHAT pools 8 and 9 vaccine had been prepared, and needed to be field-
tested. In reality, what may have been a serious polio outbreak (that at Bambesa) was
ignored for a month, while the vaccine was instead transported to two large military
camps, where the majority of the vaccinations were carried out. (Over the years,
military camps have frequently been viewed as good testing-grounds for new
biomedical materials.) When the vaccine finally did arrive in Bambesa, there was not
enough to go around, and only a part of the village was vaccinated.

Koprowski, however, reported that in Bambesa as elsewhere, “every inhabitant
received the vaccine”. He also reported that “after vaccination, no more cases of
paralysis were reported in the four localities involved in the outbreaks”. In fact, the
hygiene inspector’s letter reveals that more than 17 cases were reported in these
locales in the following months, including at least one in each of the four villages.
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Bervoets reveals that 1,500 further people were vaccinated in the mining township of
Kilo at the same time as the Watsa vaccination – and that Kilo experienced twenty
further polio cases between April and July. (None of this is mentioned by
Koprowski.) The likeliest explanation is that the vaccine was reverting to virulence,
which seems to have been a regular problem with Koprowski vaccines over the
years.416

It is, I believe, inconceivable that neither Koprowski nor Courtois were informed
about any of the 17 post-vaccination polio cases before they wrote the reports which
announced to the world that in the first large-scale field-trials of oral polio vaccine
anywhere on the planet, CHAT vaccine had been an unqualified success.417 [For
further details, see Figure 7]

Figure 7: Different accounts of the “vaccinations in response to epidemics” in
Province Oriental of the Belgian Congo, January – February, 1958, and of the
post-vaccination polio cases seen in the same towns and villages.

Town or
village where
polio
outbreak
occurred

Numbers of
suspected
polio cases
pre-
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outbreak
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(Koprowski)
(D)
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BANALIA  8 29/11/57
to 4/1/58

8/1/58 to
12/1/58

4,182  1  0

GOMBARI
(A)

 12 Late
January
1958

27/1/58 3,482 1 (plus more
from March
onwards)

 0

WATSA (A)  2 Not
recorded

29/1/58
to
31/1/58

12,789  8 (F)  0

BAMBESA  7 Early
January
1958

1/2/58
(C)

2,433 (E)  7  0

NOTES:

(A) Both Watsa and Gombari boasted large military camps.
(B) According to Koprowski, just 3 of the 29 persons suspected of having polio in the four towns

and villages were confirmed serologically as having Type 1 poliovirus – all in Banalia. According
to Courtois, only one case was confirmed as Type 1 in Banalia, and one other in Gombari.
Bervoets, however, reports that eight cases were confirmed as Type 1 in Banalia, and six in
Bambesa. Nobody reports any confirmed Type 1 cases in Watsa, the town where the bulk of the
vaccinations occurred.

(C) The four week gap between the report of the epidemic in Bambesa (which was the most significant
in terms of cases per head of population) and the (partial) vaccination of that village with CHAT
has not been explained.

(D) These are the numbers vaccinated according to both Koprowski and Courtois. There are some
small discrepancies with the vaccination figures provided by Bervoets for the last three towns. He
records 2,925 vaccinees in Gombari; 13,069 in Watsa, and 2,350 in Bambesa.

(E) According to Bervoets, 2,350 persons were vaccinated in Bambesa, and this was “only a part of
the population”. The fact that there were subsequently seven cases of polio in Bambesa may well
be related to the fact that part of the village was not vaccinated, and suggests that the vaccine may
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have reverted to virulence. Koprowski, by contrast, says that “every inhabitant” of Bambesa was
vaccinated, and reports no post-vaccination polio cases.

(F) Bervoets mentions that in addition to the 13,069 vaccinees at Watsa, 1,500 people were vaccinated
at the same time in the nearby mining town of Kilo, and that Kilo subsequently had 20 polio cases
between April and July. The 1,500 vaccinees are believed to represent about a quarter of the
population of Kilo, for subsequent arrangements were made for 5,000 more doses of CHAT to be
given here. With regard to the original vaccination there appears, as in Bambesa, to have been
reversion to virulence.

(G) It is noticeable that details which conflict with Koprowski’s argument that CHAT vaccine is safe
and effective do not appear in his BMJ paper. (Although Koprowski is officially recorded only as
last author on this BMJ paper, I was told by at least two of the Belgian doctors from Stanleyville
that Koprowski wrote it, and sent it to Courtois only for checking.) Koprowski claims that “after
vaccination no more cases of paralysis were reported in the four localities involved in the
outbreaks”, yet Bervoets makes it clear that polio cases occurred in each one of the four outbreak
villages and towns, beginning five days after the vaccinations. (In his paper, published a few
weeks after that of Koprowski, Courtois says that there were six post-vaccination polio cases, but
does not say where.) Koprowski’s article was published on July 26, 1958, and Courtois’ paper
appeared in August, so only in Kilo (which neither Koprowski nor Courtois mention in any case),
could a persuasive case be made that the post-vaccination cases might have occurred after the
papers had been written. Other potentially awkward details, such as the partial vaccinations at Kilo
and Bambesa (both of which were followed by polio outbreaks) also go unreported by Koprowski
and Courtois. Interestingly, in Koprowski’s paper there is no mention of the vaccinations at
Stanleyville military camp, or along the eastern shore of Lake Tanganyika.

Sources: “Koprowski”: Article by G. Courtois, H. Koprowski et al.; Brit. Med. J.; 1958; (ii); 187-190.
“Courtois”: Article by G. Courtois; Ann. Soc. Belge Med. Trop.; 1958; 38; 805-816.
“Bervoets”: Official government letter from W. Bervoets to P. De Brauwere, 17/9/58.

What the CHAT vaccine researchers seem to have been concerned with are
impressive statements which could be broadcast publicly, and enshrined in the
medical literature, rather than with the reality of what was happening on the
ground.418

And 44 years later, in an uncanny echo of these events, we have the publicly-
broadcast statements that the OPV theory has been destroyed, when the reality is so
very different.

This is not Science. It is phantom science.

I know that some who have followed the origins debate closely suspect that the main
reason why there has been such a premature rush to “bury” the OPV theory is that
certain scientists may be trying to buy time, so that they can continue with the search
for some real (or perhaps not so real) evidence that would genuinely damage the
theory – such as a sample of HIV-positive blood from before the start of the OPV
trials.

If scientists are (even belatedly) staging an honest search for such materials, then that
is commendable. However, there are indications that at least some of these searches
for ancient HIV may not be entirely above board. Simon Wain-Hobson (when he still
believed in the merits of the OPV theory) told me that late in 1999, a few months after
The River was published, he spoke with a CDC scientist at a meeting in the U.S. This
scientist claimed that some of his colleagues were working with a sample of HIV
from 1952, from which they had already obtained a sequence. Simon asked him
where the sequence sat in the phylogenetic tree. The scientist held out the fingers of
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one hand, to represent the Group M star-burst, and pointed to near the end of one of
the fingers. Simon swiftly pointed out that if the 1952 virus was positioned near the
end of a branch, whichever branch, it must surely be a contamination with a modern
virus. The other scientist quickly changed the subject.419 Interestingly, nothing more
has since been heard of this “ancient HIV sample”.

And it seems that something similar may be going on even today. Repeated attempts
(some of them clandestine) have been made by scientists representing KUL (the
Catholic University of Leuven),420 among other institutions, to obtain a set of
pathology slides which was recently located in the basement of the former medical
laboratory in Stanleyville. These aparently include materials obtained between 1955
and 1958. Because this may represent the period both before and after the beginning
of the OPV trials, I believe it is of paramount importance that these slides, and the
accompanying data, should be investigated by “neutral” institutions, rather than by
one that was itself directly involved in the original research programme.421

Because a genuine sample of HIV-1 Group M from before the time of the OPV trials
would constitute a powerful piece of evidence against the OPV hypothesis, it is all the
more important that the provenance of any such sample (if it exists) should be above
suspicion.

k) The emperor’s new clothes.

Everyone knows the fairy story by Hans Christian Andersen. The emperor parades
through town, showing off his new clothes. The courtiers and townspeople gasp and
cheer, and applaud the finery. But then one day a young boy stands up at the back and
says the unsayable….that the emperor’s clothes aren’t clothes at all. That he is naked.
And the people stop bowing, and look up, and see that it is so.

I believe that, in the course of this debate, certain members of the scientific
community have been acting with imperial and empirical disdain for the most basic
tenets and ethics of science. And I think it’s time that someone stood up at the back,
and pointed out just what the emperor is wearing today.

Until a moment ago, it seemed that perhaps I was going to have to be the little boy.
But fortunately someone else has just stood up over there, behind the pages. I’m not
sure who he is, but he’s rather small, with a beard and glasses, and he appears to be
getting quite red in the face.

In fact, he really does seem quite upset….inflamed, even. By the looks of things, he
could use a bit of dephlogistication.422

Now he’s shouting something. What’s that he’s saying? “Desolé, mais il faut le dire.”
“I’m sorry, but this has got to be said.” Good grief, I think that must be Monsieur
Émile Zola. I thought he’d died years ago. Anyway, by the look of things, he’s about
to read out a series of accusations. Let’s listen.

• J’accuse.
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• I accuse various scientists of having participated in research which resulted in a
disastrous error of judgement perpetrated in Africa by an international scientific
team nearly half a century ago.

• I accuse Dr Paul Osterrieth of having participated in a large-scale chimpanzee
sacrifice programme in the Congo in the 1950s, in order to gather both organs and
blood for purposes that are still largely unknown. I further accuse him of having
prepared polio vaccine in his lab in Stanleyville in the 1950s, in a primitive
Maitland-type tissue culture based on chimpanzee cells and chimp sera – and of
having given incomplete and misleading answers about this episode over a period
of several years.423

• I accuse Dr Hilary Koprowski of having instigated the programme under which Dr
Osterrieth prepared the polio vaccine, and under which various scientists
(including Koprowski himself, Ghislain Courtois, Gaston Ninane, Paul Osterrieth,
Agnes Flack and George Jervis) conducted and oversaw the human field-trials of
that vaccine in the Belgian Congo and Ruanda-Urundi. I also accuse him of
having instigated the research programme at Lindi camp, and of consistently
failing to provide meaningful and adequate answers about the work that was
conducted there. I believe that Dr Koprowski was well aware of the true nature of
the chimpanzee-related work that was going on in Stanleyville and at Lindi camp,
from first to last.

• I accuse Dr Stanley Plotkin of having been involved with the Stanleyville/Lindi
research programme, and of having coordinated an attempted cover-up in
response to the hypothesis proposed in The River. I also accuse him of saying
nasty and untrue things about my friend, Monsieur Hooper.

• I accuse doctors Beatrice Hahn, Paul Sharp, Bette Korber and Kevin De Cock,
among others, of having demonstrated a bunker mentality in promoting a version
of events which is increasingly far-fetched. It is apparent that neither their
epidemiological scenario nor their phylogenetic dating argument stands up to
close scrutiny, yet they continue to present both as if they were proven facts, not
hypotheses. The evidence about the focal role that recombination has played in
HIV-1 Group M makes it increasingly clear (at least to me and Madame Zola) that
there is no reliable phylogenetic basis for making estimates about when the Group
M epidemic began. We feel that the fact that such estimates are made at all is
prompted (knowingly or unknowingly) by the perceived necessity of “disproving”
the OPV hypothesis.

• I accuse Dr Simon Wain-Hobson of having failed to honour his agreement with
Bill Hamilton, and having failed to properly investigate and report on the chimp
samples which Bill and his colleagues brought back from the Congo. There is
little enough primary data available on this issue, and many people consider that
Professor Hamilton effectively sacrificed his life in order to procure these
materials. The least he deserves from his former collaborator is a full and properly
detailed scientific investigation and report. Furthermore, I accuse Dr Wain-
Hobson of having done a volte-face on the origins issue, a flouncy flip-flop that
has been prompted primarily by pragmatism.

• I accuse Dr Robin Weiss of having presided over a Weisswash in the origins of
AIDS debate. I accuse him of having used his power (and he is indeed very
powerful and influential within the world of science) to spin the arguments against
the OPV theory, and to attempt to persuade both scientific and lay observers that
the theory has been disproved. I further accuse him of having told a blatant
untruth by stating that the OPV theory has been “destroyed”. He has failed to
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provide any supporting evidence for that assertion, and yet he has also failed to
withdraw it. In reality, Professor Weiss has based his arguments on nothing more
or less than his own “plain, personal prejudice” – to quote his own (unpublished)
words from the Royal Society meeting. I am informed that Professor Weiss has
recently written to a journalist that “it strikes me that HIV researchers are to a man
and a woman weary of [Hooper’s] mutating hypothesis”, an interesting comment,
in that it suggests he thinks that hypotheses should not adapt to the arrival of new
evidence. It also suggests that he and his colleagues are now too bored to think
further about whether the world’s most disastrous human epidemic may have been
started by Man himself. However, the word on the vigne is that, despite Dr Weiss’
protestations of ennui, he himself is now either editing, or organising, a new book
of invited essays about “how AIDS began”. If the rumours are correct, then we
hope that the book will be more balanced than Dr Weiss’ previous contributions
on the subject. But we are not holding our breath.

• I also accuse my friend Mr Edward Hooper of having failed to investigate the
provenance of the L70 sample (which produced the ZR59 sequence of HIV-1)
with sufficient care in 1997, when he was submitting information about that
sample to be published as part of an article in Nature. This only goes to show that
we can all make errors of judgement, and this suggests also that Mr Hooper is
sometimes un petit peu too willing to ascribe evil intent to others when they too
make mistakes.

• I accuse the little boy of going home early without permission. He should be kept
in for a week, and lose pocket money.

• And I accuse the emperor of being naked. Look up quickly, people of the town, if
you want to see.

Gosh, that Monsieur Zola – once he starts accusing, he does get carried away, doesn’t
he?

6. Conclusion: the importance of the level playing-field.

The new evidence about the local production of CHAT in Stanleyville, and the strong
probability that it was prepared in chimpanzee cells and sera, are vitally important.

This new information does not, however, prove that CHAT vaccine started the AIDS
pandemic.

On the other hand, the scale of the attempted cover-up (both at the time, and in the
last few years) suggests that others besides myself suspect that it may have done so.

Some things which have happened in the course of this controversy are deeply
regrettable, and have reflected no credit on those responsible. Having said that, I do
realise that many of those who have been so determined to prove the OPV theory
wrong may have acted in good faith. When one sincerely believes that this simply has
to be just another conspiracy theory, and that the African CHAT campaigns could not
possibly have been the source of AIDS, then one may also come to believe that almost
any action one might take is permissible provided it has the right outcome, and
persuades others also that the theory is misguided.
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It is hoped that this paper will persuade at least some of those who were previously
convinced of the inherent wrongness of the OPV hypothesis that it might be moot to
reconsider.

Because of the role he has played in this controversy, I am not alone in regretting that
Professor Robin Weiss was invited to deliver the closing summary at this conference.
In all other ways, the events here at Lincei have demonstrated an even-handedness
that was sadly lacking from sections of the Royal Society meeting.

I would like to thank the Lincei academy for inviting me to speak (and write) in the
place of the late, lamented Bill Hamilton (as if any could take his place!). I have not
written the paper that Bill would have written, but I hope that what I have contributed,
though sometimes blunt, has done honour to his legacy. The decision about how to
write this paper has not been made lightly.

By honouring their promise to Bill, and by allowing this conference to go ahead on a
level playing-field, the Accademia Nazionale dei Lincei has done a great service both
to Science, and to ethical conduct in Science.

And by their conduct during and since the conference, the officers and members of
the academy have acknowledged that truth does not automatically, or exclusively,
come from the pens and the mouths of the “experts”. I thank them for that.

Let me close by adapting Benjamin Disraeli’s question to this dreadful and
unprecedented epidemic.

Was AIDS caused by an ape, by an angel (if so, surely a dark one) – or by Man
himself, in all his bungling and clumsy ambition and human frailty?

We still don’t know the answer. But my vote would go to the last of the three.

EH July 2, 2002

• I would like to thank more than a dozen scientists from different fields, and a
number of non-scientists who are interested in the debate, for their help with, and
input to, this paper. Because this remains such a highly controversial subject, and
because I do not wish to cause anyone any embarrassment, I shall refrain from
citing them by name, at least for now.

• I would also like to thank my partner, Ms P. Griffin, for providing love, ongoing
support facilities – and the hand-drawn maps.

• As I was completing this manuscript, I was informed of the sad death, on June 7,
2002, of Dr Kamil Kucera, the brilliant Czech parasitologist. Between 1991 and
1993, Professor Kucera prepared several hundred pages of detailed hand-written
notes and tables about his researches into Pneumocystis carinii, which causes
PCP, the pneumonia that is the classic opportunistic infection of “Euro-American
AIDS”. He wrote these notes in meticulous copperplate on large sheets of ancient
air mail paper, and he sent them to me in batches, inside home-made envelopes,
stuck down with glue.
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• Like Bill Hamilton, Kamil Kucera was a man whose scientific commitment and
integrity shone through his work, and through his whole life, and I would like to
dedicate this paper to both of these admirable men.

© 2002 The Accademia Nazionale dei Lincei and Edward Hooper.

7. Afterword: the Culture of Secrecy.

Just as this paper was about to be submitted, I was informed that on November 20th,
2001, Dr Paul Osterrieth had posted on the Web an official response to the speech
which I delivered at Lincei on September 28th, 2001 (which contained the bare bones
of the evidence presented in the current paper).

Entitled “The truth is what happened and not what one wishes that had happened”,
Osterrieth’s four page disclaimer initially comes across as an impressive riposte – one
that is calm, measured, generally dignified, and seemingly authoritative.424

However, his belated decision to provide some additional details about his work in
Stanleyville actually raises more questions than it answers. Firstly, much of the key
information he provides is demonstrably inaccurate, or else contradicts material in his
past statements. Secondly, Osterrieth’s latest declaration only highlights his
unwillingness to make any clear statement about the most important issues – such as
what he and his fellow scientists were doing with the Lindi chimps, and what
happened to the CHAT polio vaccine once it had arrived at the Stanleyville medical
lab.

Several of Dr Osterrieth’s claims have already been covered in the main text, but I
shall examine his new claims point by point below:

• Osterrieth now states that he returned to Stanleyville on February 28th, 1958, and
he sources this detail to the annual report of the LMS. What that report actually
records is that he returned to work at the lab on February 23rd, but even that detail
is inaccurate. We know this because in a tape-recorded interview in 1993, Dr
Osterrieth told me that he arrived back in Stanleyville “a very short time” after Dr
Deinhardt’s arrival (which is independently documented as having been on
February 1st, 1958). His wife added that their arrival in Stan was “just a few days”
after Deinhardt’s, and I therefore believe that his return must have been on or
around February 4th. Support for this is provided by Osterrieth’s “first assistant”,
who began work on February 12th, 1958 (I have seen his official stamped work
records, which confirm this), and who recalls that Osterrieth was already making
polio vaccine when he, the assistant, started work. Dr Osterrieth’s sudden
insistence that he was not present in the lab until February 28th, 1958, may not be
unrelated to the fact that the vaccination at Stanleyville military camp took place
on February 27th.

• Osterrieth states that he “did not carry out any autopsy [on a chimpanzee], since
that was the job of Dr Ninane the pathologist”. He adds that “when an autopsy
was carried out, limited pieces of different organs were taken to carry out various
analys[es]”. These statements are directly contradicted by the recollections of two
witnesses from Lindi camp: Joseph the camp nurse (who carried out most of the
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sacrifices and gross dissections, and who was present at most of the autopsies),
and “Antoine”, who watched some of them “from the wings”. Both say that it was
Dr Osterrieth who conducted most of the autopsies on the chimps, and who
regularly used to remove entire organs and put them into metal canisters. On the
basis of multiple pieces of evidence, it appears probable that Ninane conducted
the autopsies on dead or diseased chimps, but that Osterrieth dissected, and
removed organs from, those which were sacrificed for other reasons.

• Osterrieth states “I was not the one who took blood from the chimpanzees”. This
is directly contradicted by the testimony of his first lab assistant, who recalls that
he and Dr Osterrieth regularly visited Lindi camp on Saturdays in order to obtain
bloods from the chimpanzees, which Osterrieth later spun down into serum in the
sterile (tissue culture) lab in the virology department. The assistant says that this
sometimes happened at weekly intervals, and sometimes about once a month.
Furthermore, although the assistant does not know the details of how the polio
vaccine was made, he associates the taking of chimp blood with the making of the
vaccine.

• Osterrieth asserts: “clearly my primary task was neither to prepare cell culture nor
to prepare vaccine” at the Stanleyville lab. Yet in my first interview with him in
1993, he told me the exact opposite with regard to making tissue culture. At the
beginning of the interview, he explained that his work in the virus lab “was
essentially to develop tissue cultures, to expand the virus work”. When I asked
him what sort of cultures, he answered “certainly monkey kidney”, but was unable
to remember the species, apart from assuring me that it was not the chimpanzee.
(Only later did he decide it must have been the baboon.) Later, he stated that his
four month visit to the US in October 1957 to January 1958 had been mainly to
get training in cell culture and virology, and that he had spent two weeks [or a
month, according to his latest statement] at the Wistar Institute, where he “was
working only in the lab of tissue culture, and looking how to do things”. At
another point in the 1993 interview, Osterrieth said that Koprowski had demanded
that he come to the Wistar “because of the work on the polio” which, Osterreith
explained, related to the two vaccine strains, CHAT and Fox.

• Osterrieth states that “no Maitland type cultures of any animal were produced in
the lab, and no vaccine was produced”. The first part of this statement is
contradicted by the testimony of Courtois’ assistant, who says that chimpanzee
tissue cultures were being produced in the microbiology lab where Osterrieth
worked before he took over the virology lab. Furthermore, an AFEB report
documents that the materials sent to the US in early 1958 were minced
chimpanzee kidneys in isologous (chimpanzee) serum and Hanks’ solution, which
effectively constitute Maitland-type cultures. Osterrieth’s second claim, that no
vaccine was produced, is contradicted by both of the assistants in his virology lab.
Indeed, the first assistant states that Osterrieth was already making polio vaccines
before he (the assistant) started working in the lab in February 1958, and that he
continued to make polio vaccines, on request from the provincial government,
during the next two years.

• Osterrieth states that: “the allegation that chimpanzee serum was prepared to be
used in tissue culture medium for chimpanzee cells in culture is sheer nonsense,
since at that time one used calf serum or sometimes foetal calf serum to enrich the
culture medium, since this type of serum was available in sufficient amounts.”
Despite Dr Osterrieth’s protestations, he is incorrect. He ignores the fact that
foetal calf serum was expensive to purchase, and that local production of calf
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serum was unlikely, given that cows did not survive well in the rain forest
environment of Stanleyville; (certainly in 1999, there were no cows living in or
around Kisangani). By contrast, chimp serum was freely available, and it was a
good idea to use precisely because it was isologous, and came from the same
species as the kidneys. And crucially, we know from the AFEB report that in fact
chimp serum was used to nourish the chimp kidney cells.

• Osterrieth states: “we could not even check reliably the titre of [polio] vaccine
lots”. This is interesting on two counts. Firstly, that they proceeded with local
vaccinations despite being unsure of the titre of the vaccine. And secondly, that Dr
Osterrieth uses the collective “we” with respect to attempts to titrate the vaccine,
which is the first time he has ever directly acknowledged that he himself was one
of those who handled the vaccine in the lab. Despite his alleged desire to provide
clarification, and despite having made seven oral or written statements about these
matters over a nine year period, Dr Osterrieth has never revealed any significant
details about the polio vaccine, or what was done with it.

• Osterrieth states that the chimps “were kept alone in individual cages and not
together in a common one, with the possible exception of infants that could be
handled easily.” This is incorrect. According to several contemporary accounts
(including a review article prepared by his boss, Ghislain Courtois, in 1966), the
chimps were often kept two to a cage, common chimp and bonobo together.
Courtois also writes of a group-cage, where up to ten chimps could play at a time.

• Osterrieth writes: “Mr Hooper states that in the year 2000 I wrote to natives in
Stanleyville to ask them to say nothing about what was carried out in my lab in the
years of vaccination. This is simply not true. I never wrote such a letter, and if
such a document exists Mr Hooper should produce it for examination.” Dr
Osterrieth’s claim is interesting, because what I actually wrote in a footnote to my
Lincei speech was that in late 2000, one of his ex-assistants “received a letter from
Osterrieth, this being the first time he had heard from him for some forty years.
What his old boss wanted to know was which of his former assistants at the virus
lab and Lindi camp were still alive, and which were dead”. In any case,
Osterrieth’s demand that I should produce the letter is inappropriate: since the
letter was not written to me, I clearly do not have it to produce. What is available,
however, is clear evidence to refute Dr Osterrieth’s denial, which will be produced
in good time. Meanwhile, one is left to wonder why he should suddenly have been
seeking such information.

• Osterreith states that Dr Ninane’s family denies that he had either Parkinson’s
disease or Alzheimer’s disease, and he remonstrates with me for making claims
about Dr Ninane’s health in order “to cast doubt on the value of his testimony”.
This is both misleading and untrue. When interviewed in August 2000, two weeks
after her brother’s death, Gaston Ninane’s sister (with whom he had lived for the
last ten or more years of his life) told me that he had suffered from Parkinson’s
disease, which led to his falls, and to his being hospitalised; she added that doctors
Koprowski and Prinzie interviewed him after his first fall, while he was in
hospital. I believe that Alzheimer’s was also mentioned during that conversation
(though I can find no mention of it on the tape), but in any case Dr Ninane had
often told me that he feared he was suffering the first symptoms of this condition.
The key point, however, is that (whatever his state of health) the statement which
Dr Ninane apparently signed in February 2000, stating that claims that he had
tried to make tissue culture, and chimpanzee tissue culture, in Stanleyville were
“lies”, is itself untrue. I have the tape recordings of our interviews, which
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demonstrate that Dr Ninane was correctly quoted, and that he did indeed say these
things.

• Finally, Osterrieth states: “It remains astonishing that people who recognise that
they had no access to these facilities [the sterile room in his virology lab] would
know precisely what kind of work I did carry [out] in this lab, what type of tissue
culture was performed, what kind of virus was inoculated, what kind of serum was
used”. This is a strange comment, for Osterrieth’s assistant did not make any
claims to knowing these precise details. What he did know, however, was that
Osterrieth was making a polio vaccine which he (the assistant) then fed to the
people living at the local military camp. And fortunately, another African
technician who had worked in another department of the Stanleyville lab since
1956 knew more precise details, including the key fact that chimpanzee tissue
culture was being made in different departments at the Stanleyville laboratory.

• I believe that, taken as a whole, Dr Osterrieth’s comments are highly revealing of
the culture of secrecy within which he worked – and with which he worked.

The title of Dr Osterrieth’s disclaimer, “The truth is what happened and not what one
wishes that had happened”, would seem to be appropriate, though perhaps not in the
way intended.425

In comments which he made to a journalist in October 2001, Robin Weiss said:
“Either Osterrieth is lying through his teeth or [Hooper] has got it wrong”. I would put
it a little differently. I have made clear statements about what can and cannot be
proved, and I have the evidence to support those statements. By contrast, I believe
that Dr Osterrieth’s often contradictory statements on this matter are not supported by
evidence, and cannot be relied upon.

8. POSTSCRIPT: January 1, 2003.

Since this paper went to press, there have been a number of significant developments
with regard to the OPV hypothesis of the origin of AIDS.

In July 2002, a brief communication by Andreas Meyerhans and colleagues,
published in Nature, revealed unprecedented evidence of rampant recombination
occurring within the individual HIV-infected cells of AIDS patients.426 It was left to
Jon Cohen, writing in Science about what was referred to as a “beautiful study” by the
Meyerhans group, to sum up its significance. Cohen commented that their work
“raises serious questions about phylogeny trees that attempt to date the origin of HIV,
all of which intentionally discard suspected recombinants to make the data
interpretable”.427

So the cat is finally out of the bag. At long last, a consensus is emerging that
phylogenetic dating is quite simply an inappropriate technique to apply to a virus as
mutable and capable of recombination as HIV. The main scientific “disproof” of the
OPV theory is revealed as an illusion.

Meanwhile, additional interviews conducted by this author in Europe have confirmed
and substantially enlarged the central revelations of the present paper, concerning the
events that took place in the 1950s at Lindi camp, and at what even Hilary Koprowski
referred to, in 2001, as “the vaccine laboratory” in Stanleyville. It is neither practical
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nor appropriate to try to incorporate this new information into the present paper, but
details have been deposited with various parties, and the full story will be reported in
due course, both in the scientific literature and elsewhere.

The questions that now have to be asked are these…

• For how long can mainstream Science continue to insist that CHAT was not made
in chimp cells?

• How long will it be before independent laboratories conduct the tests that now
clearly need to be conducted, to see if this vaccine was linked to the genesis of
AIDS? (For the record, virological testing of chimpanzee and bonobo populations
in the DRC is finally underway. An appropriate next step, I believe, would be an
epidemiological and virological survey of CHAT vaccinees and non-vaccinees in
the DRC and Burundi.)

• What does this story (including the attempted cover-up) have to tell us about the
way that Science is conducted in the modern world?

• And to what extent will a proper understanding of how AIDS began advance the
search for a vaccine or therapy?
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Earle of the NIH, only to be told that “three years of intensive training in his laboratory would be
required. When [Dr Henle] pointed out that we were virologists who wanted to use the cultures merely
as a tool…he threw up his hands in disgust. Yet we learned enough during the visit to start out on our
own, an ineptly as it was initially.” It seems clear that by 1958 Deinhardt possessed the background
know-how to produce successful cultures from chimpanzee cells, especially if these were Maitland-
type cultures, which were relatively straightforward to make, involving the cutting up of some kidneys
with scissors, and then mixing them with some serum, growth medium and adding a few drops of
antibiotics. Deinhardt did of course work with chimp kidney cultures, of the trypsinised variety, as
soon as he returned to Philadelphia at the end of April 1958.
73 Others who theoretically could have helped with the making of tissue culture in Stanleyville during
this period include Dr Courtois’s deputy Dr Mangen (about whom little is known, other than the fact
that he and Courtois did not get along), the nurse/pharmacist Paulette Dherte, and Professor Welsch, a
bacteriologist from Liege, who appears to have visited both Stanleyville and the Ruzizi Valley in the
course of a lengthy African tour in early 1958.
74 P. Osterrieth, personal communication, 1993. Osterrieth told me: “He [Vandepitte] wanted us to take
the samples, and the technicians to do the work. And I thought that was completely silly. To stay the
whole morning in a place waiting for people to come, just to take blood, instead of being in the lab and
doing the interesting work. So he told me: ‘tomorrow it’s your turn’. I said: ‘yes’. I didn’t go. And then
he said: ‘You were not there’. I said: ‘No, I forget’. Looking him straight in the eyes, [I said] ‘I forgot’.
It was finished.”
75 G. Henle, personal communication, 1993. The Armed Forces Epidemiology Board reports for 1957-8
and 1958-9 make it clear that four shipments of chimpanzee kidneys took place during 1958, which are
presumably the ones dispatched by Deinhardt between February and April of that year. Two further
chimp kidney shipments were sent later, presumably by Osterrieth. [See: Deinhardt F., Courtois G.,
Dherte P., Osterrieth P., Ninane G., Henle G. and Henle W.; “Studies of liver function tests in
chimpanzees after inoculation with human infectious hepatitis virus”; Am. J. Hyg.; 1962; 75; 311-321.]
Dr Henle added that Dr Koprowski had helped set up Deinhardt’s visit. This further supports the
possibility that Deinhardt would have been happy to deliver a bottle of the new CHAT vaccine pool
(10A-11) to Stanleyville, as a quid pro quo to Koprowski.
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77 It is my belief that Alzheimer’s disease was mentioned by Dr Ninane’s sister as well as Parkinson’s,
though it is not referred to in my notes, or on the tape recording. Certainly in our last two interviews Dr
Ninane had often told me that he feared that he was suffering the first symptoms of Alzheimer’s, but
this may have been in a bid to explain lapses in memory, rather than an accurate self-diagnosis.
78 S.A. Plotkin, “CHAT Oral Polio Vaccine Was Not the Source of Human Immunodeficiency Virus
Type 1 Group M for Humans”; Clin. Inf. Dis., 2001, 32, 1068-84; see page 1074.
79 In addition, there is further confirmation of other aspects of this question by other indirect witnesses.
For various reasons these are being held in reserve for now, but they will be reported at a later date.
80 According to his former assistant, Georges Lambelin, Alexandre Jezierski (the Polish vet who spent
more than four years experimenting with locally-prepared OPVs and IPVs at his lab in Gabu, eastern
Congo) was equally secretive about the process, which ceased upon his departure in late 1957. River;
2000, page 611.
81 Source: the assistant’s official work documents from the colonial era, viewed by the author.
82 Personal communications: Paul and Odette Osterrieth, 1993.
83 L. Quersin-Thiry, “Action of anti-cellular sera on virus infections. II. Influence on heterologous
tissue cultures”; J. Imm.; 1959; 82; 542-552. See also the first part of this article, sub-titled: “Influence
on homologous tissue cultures infected with various viruses”; J. Imm.; 1958; 81; 253-260.
84 Letter from W. Bervoets to P. De Brauwere, September 17th, 1958; file H4484/1058 at the Belgian
Ministry of Foreign Affairs archives.
85 G. Courtois, H. Koprowski et al., “Preliminary report of mass vaccination of man with live
poliomyelitis virus in the Belgian Congo and Ruanda-Urundi”; Brit. Med. J.; 1958; 2(i); 187-190.
86 S.A. Plotkin, “Untruths and consequences: the false hypothesis linking CHAT type 1 polio
vaccination to the origin of human immunodeficiency virus”; see page 820.
87 River, 2000, pages 572-3.
88 G. Barski, A. Jezierski and P. Lépine, “Sensibilite au virus de la poliomyélite in vitro des tissus de
differéntes espèces des singes d’Afrique centrale. Non receptivite des tissus des certains mammiferes”,
Ann. Inst. Past.; 1954; 86; 243-247. A. Jezierski, “Action cytopathogene des trois prototypes de virus
de la poliomyélite in vitro sur les tissus de differéntes espèces des singes d’Afrique centrale. Non
receptivite des tissus des certains animaux”; Ann. Inst. Past.; 1955; 89; 78-82.
89 The paper in question reveals that CHAT pool 10A-11 had by that stage been fed to 25 Clinton
infants. By comparing with the dates on which these infants were fed [see table in River, 2000, pages
695-698], and cross-shecking with the titres fed to each infant, it was possible to calculate between
which dates the paper must have been written [see: River, 2000, page 701]. The Moorestown trial (in a
New Jersey dormitory suburb of Philadelphia) also began on January 27th, and in the book, I
hypothesise that it might have involved another CHAT pool, 4B-5. With the additional information
now available from Dr Plotkin, it seems that I was probably wrong, and that the Moorestown feeding
also probably involved pool 10A-11. However, it seems that it involved a different substrate in New
Jersey to that used in Stanleyville and Ruzizi.
90 Dr Deinhardt’s widow, Jean, has reported that he booked two seats on the plane, one for himself and
one for the “box of shit”, this being a cool-box containing faecal specimens from the children of
Willowbrook state school, who had been experimentally infected with hepatitis. (The stools were later
used to infect some of the Lindi chimps.)
91 Anon, “Monkey Business”; Thermometer; 1958; 9(2); 3 and 6.
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February 27th, with the Fox feeding on May 27th, or with both, but it makes little difference to the
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93 Uvira is actually four miles south of the tarmacadam road through the Ruzizi Valley along which the
teams vaccinated, and so whether or not they vaccinated in the town itself, it seems likely that the
population of the Uvira (believed to be 3,000 to 4,000 in 1958) would, just like the other local
populations, have answered the call of the drums. In one interview in 1993, Dr Ninane told me that he
thought he had vaccinated in Uvira, but he did not confirm this the next time I spoke with him.
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vaccination of man with live poliomyelitis virus in the Belgian Congo and Ruanda-Urundi”; Brit. Med.
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March 7, 1958, page 4.
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2000, p. 614.]
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1957, but that this opening had been postponed because of construction delays. This may explain why
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102 Personal research in Bukavu, March 2001. It has always struck me as surprising that so much
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103 The plane made long stops in the heat of Athens and Khartoum en route to Stanleyville, making
meltdown all the more likely.
104 S.A. Plotkin, “Untruths and consequences”, page 816, confirms that “no seed system was used” for
the early pools of CHAT.
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106 F. Przesmycki et al., “Vaccination against poliomyelitis in Poland with Koprowski’s live attenuated
strains”, in “Second international conference on live poliomyelitis vaccines: papers presented and
discussions held (Washington, D.C., June 6-10, 1960)”, Pan-American Sanitary Bureau, 1960,
Scientific Publications No. 50, pp 522-531. See original vaccine titre on page 522, and compare with
dilution details on page 526. The ten-fold disparity between the original titre, and that at the Warsaw
lab prior to dilution, indicates that local amplification must have occurred. Other clues suggest that
local passage of the vaccine virus may have happened routinely in Poland, for the article mentions that
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107 In Africa, the problem was rather that of keeping the vaccine temperature below 4 degrees
centigrade. Above this temperature, live poliovirus rapidly becomes inactivated. This was always the
major headache involved in moving live vaccines, like CHAT, long distances around the world, and
then out into the field. In reality, quite a lot of the live polio vaccine fed in places like South America,
and the Congo, may have been useless, having fallen to a non-immunogenic titre because it got too
warm.
108 M. Bottiger et al., “Vaccination with Attenuated Type 1 Poliovirus, the CHAT strain. III. Antibody
response and spread of virus in schoolchildren”. Acta. Paed. Scand.; 1966; 55; 422-431. Various
doctors who used to work for the Stockholm labs during this period have told me that cynomolgus
monkeys were exclusively used for vaccine production from about 1957 onwards.
109 S.A. Plotkin, “Recent results of mass immunization against poliomyelitis with Koprowski strains of
attenuated live poliovirus”, Am. J. Pub. Health; 1962; 52(6); 946-960.
110 Anon., “Requirements for production of attenuated vaccine for poliomyelitis (Koprowski strain)”
[English translation of title and article made by Croatian]; Immunolski. Zavod. Radovi; 1964; 2; 124-
125. This brief article clearly described work from the 60s, not the 50s, for the article states that no
more than two passages of the primary virus from the Wistar Institute can take place, in either African
green monkey kidney cells, or in WI-38.
111 TCID50 (or 50% Tissue Culture Infectious Doses), this being the titre at the point when 50% of the
inoculated tissue cultures are infected by the virus.
112 TCID50 was the standard measure of titre of the day, though PFU (plaque-forming units), a method
in which individual plaques were supposedly counted, was also sometimes used. In practice, the two
methods gave comparable titres, though work by Roderick Murray and others revealed minor
discrepancies.
113 F. Przesmycki et al., “Vaccination against Poliomyelitis in Poland with Types 1 and 3 Attenuated
Viruses of Koprowski”; Bull. W.H.O.; 1962; 26; 733-743.
114 A personal letter written in April 1962 by Drago Ikic to Koprowski’s chief lab technician and right-
hand-man, Tom Norton, reveals that Croatia was indeed supplied with CHAT seed-lots; Ikic requested
that a half litre of each new strain of seed virus, or at least “as much as possible”, should be sent to him
“as usual”. But the evidence suggests that the other European countries which “made their own
vaccines”, such as Poland, Switzerland and Sweden, may have done so by onward passage of the
CHAT vaccine strains, not the seed-lots. At another point in the interview I asked Dr Koprowski about
the adverse results reported by George Dick and David Dane, who had fed his previous polio vaccines,
SM N-90 and TN, to 14 and 190 people (respectively) in Belfast and Oxford (U.K.) in 1956, and found
that they became more virulent (in the case of TN, much more virulent) after passage through the
human gut. Koprowski replied that the British doctors had passaged the vaccine virus again in their
own lab, implying that any shortcomings in the vaccines were their fault, not his. When I put this to
doctors Dick and Dane, they both vigorously denied it. The vaccines they fed were exactly what
Koprowski had sent them, they insisted. But the significant thing was that Koprowski’s immediate
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115 No use of Koprowski’s vaccines in South Africa is reported in the literature, and it is stated that
Sabin’s OPVs were eventually preferred to Koprowski’s in that country. Koprowski, however, did
mention that a vaccine trial had been planned in the town of East London, though he later
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116 H. Koprowski, personal communication, December 1993. Even though Dr Koprowski was quite
open about the theory of local amplification, he was less helpful about the practical aspects. I
continually asked him about the quantities of vaccine which had to be sent abroad, which gave him an
opportunity to explain the mechanics of the process, and the fact that only small quantities needed to be
dispatched. But in response, he merely said that he couldn’t remember any details. And whenever I
pressed him for specific details about the operation of the Congo trials, he either couldn’t remember, or
gave what I found to be confusing information. An example came when I understood him to have
confirmed that doctors Flack and Jervis had flown out from America with the vaccine for the Ruzizi
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and fantasy.” At another point, he told me that the first vaccine used in the Congo had been made by
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RIT. (River, 2000, pages 467-468.) At this stage of the interview, he avoided mentioning anything
about local preparation of the vaccine in the Congo.
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Wistar Institute to the Advisory Committee, Dr Ho told me that he “got into trouble” from other
unnamed scientists for doing this.
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single page (both for pool 10A-11 and for the first pool of CHAT, which may have been pool 8) match
those given in the published paper on the Clinton trials: [S.A. Plotkin, H. Koprowski and J. Stokes Jr.,
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error. [R. Murray et al., “Comparative virulence for rhesus monkeys of poliovirus strains used for oral
administration”; in First international conference on live poliovirus vaccines: papers presented and
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